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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, INDICTMENT CR |3-30% AOM 1T g
| | 18 U.S.C. § 1341

18 U.S.C. § 1343

)

)

Plaintiff, )

I )
V. o ) 26US.C.§ 7201

| )

)

)

)

S 26 U.S.C. § 7206(1)
JOHN JOSEPH WATERS, JR., o
Defendant.

The United States Grand Jury charges that:

‘ INTRODUCTION
1. This is an érﬁbezélefnent a’tnd tax fraud case in which the defendant
embezzled rriillions of dollaré from. his long-time employer, then Willquy failed to
. report any of 7the miilions that he embezzled as income on his tax returns.

BACKGROUND

At all times relevant to fchis indictment:
2. The“defendant.,v‘John Joseph Wate_rs, Jr., was a resident of Minnesota.
3. éerard Leon Cafesjian was a resident of Minnesota until about 1996,
at which time he relovcated to the state of Florida, where hé has been a fésident
since 19 96. ‘ | i ; | ' .
4, Frqm about 1960 ‘until his retirement in 1996, Cafesjian was |

employed by West Publishing, then é privately-held, Minnesota-based compa;ﬁy.
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- By the time of his retirement, Cafesjian was a senior executive and shareholder of

 West Publishing.

5. During the last approximatelyv two years in which Cafesjian was an

~ executive at West Publishing, Waters was also a West Publishing employee who -

worked with and for Cafesjian. “

6. Upon his retirement from West Publishing in 1996, Cafesjian hired
Waters as the manager of his numerous personal, business, and philanthropic
pursuits. Waters worked for Cafesjian from approximately 1996 until March 2009.
| 7.‘ | Dnring the time he worked for Cafesjian, Waters cultivated and

earned CafeSjian’s trust, and developed significant responsibilities over Cafesjian’s

. numerous personal, business, and philanthropic interests. These responsibilities

' included oversight and management of Cafesjian’s considerable assets, including

numerous bank, trust, and investment accounts.

COUNTS 1-20
(Mail and Wire Fraud)

8. The grand jury restates and realleges paragrapils 1 through 7 above as
if fully set forth herein.

9.  From at least in or aboui 1999‘- and continuing until at least March
2012, in the State and District of Minnesota and elsewhere, the defendant,

JOHN JOSEPH WATERS, JR.,



- CASE 0:13-cr-00203-ADM-JJG Document 1 Filed 08/05/13 Page 3 of 15

U.S. v. John Josebh Waters, Jr.

knowingly and intentionally'devised and executed a scheme and artifice to defraud
- Cafesjian, and to obtain money and property from him, by means of false and
- o

fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises.

Purpose of the Frau_dulént Scheme

10.  The purpose of Waters’s scheme was to embezzle millions of dollars
" from Cafesjian, which Waters divérted to his own personal use and to fund his

personal lifestyle.

Nature of the Fraudulent Scheme
It was part of the scheme that: | |
| 11. Waters obtained from Cafesjian signing authority over numerous
' bank, investment\,j and other financial accounts relating «té Cafesjian’s holdings,
inciuding accounts that Cafesjian maintained at Northern Trust Corp. in Illinbis,
Northern Trusi Bank orf Florida (collectively Northern Trust Corp. and Northern
3 Trust Bank of Florida are hereafter referred to as “Northern Trust”), and US Bank
"in Minnesota. The funds in these accounts belonged to. Cafesjian, and were to be
used solely for Cafesjian’s purpbses and to Cafesjién’s benefit.
12, From at least 1999 and continuing until about March 31, 2009,
Watefs, using the signing authority Cafesjian had giveh him, transferred millions
of dollars, without Cafesjian’s knowledge of pérfnission, from Cafesjian’s‘accounts

at Northern Trust to accounts that Waters controlled at US Bank.

© 3
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13.  Once he transferred Cafesjian’s funds to'US Bank, Waters used the
funds for his éwn persoﬂal 'purpc;ses instead of Cafesjian’s, including by the
following means: | |

- Waters cashed hundreds of checics, nearly all of which he wrote
in amounts lesé than $10,000 to evade currenéy reporting requirements.

( b.  Waters deposited hundreds of thousands of dollars into an

account at US Bank controlled by his then-girlfriend, now wife.

c. Waters deposited more than one million dollars into an account

at US Bank that Watefs controlled but that Was in the name of an Armenian

| | exchange student,' from which. he moved the funds to his own accounts or

accounts in the names of his wife, children, or girlfriend.‘ The student

tragically died‘ in February 2007, yet Waters, td_ facilitate»the redistribution

of embezzled funds, continued making regular and substantial deposits into
the student’s account for another two yeafs after her death.

14.. To conceal the' nature of the schemé, Waters caused to be falsely
recorded in Cafesjian’s‘books that the checks were for Cafesjian’s purposes, not
Watqrs’s.

| 15. - To conceal the nature of the scheme, Waters directed Cafesjian’s

other employees not to open or review the bank statements relating to the US Bank
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account into which.Waters was depositing Cafesjian’s funds, butt'instead to give
the statements directly to Waters.

16. After Waters left Cat‘esjian’s employment artd his fraudulent }scxldieme
was discovered,“v Waters attempted to discourage Cafesjia_n frdm‘ investigattng ‘the
scheme and reporting it to authorities, by ‘threatening to reveal' information about .
. Cafesjian that would be harmful ’toA Cafesjian’s pefsonal; business, and
philanthropic interests. |

17.  On .or about March 31, 2012, three years after leaﬂving Cafesjian’s
employment, and only after being confronted by investigatdrs codcemtng Waters’s
fraudulent scheme, Waters'cotnmenéed a civil lawsuit ageinst Cafesjian, falsely
alleging that, atndng othet things, the funds he withdrew from Cafesjian’s accounts
constituted borretzvings by Waters against édditiortal “deferred :cerr'lpens‘ation” thet
Cafesjian owedt Waters pursuant to an oral modification of Waters’s employment
agreement. |

Counts 1-4 (Mail Fraud)

18. The grand jdry restates and reallegee paragraphs 1 through 7 and 1'0
through 17 above as if fully set forth herein.

19 On or about the following dates, in the State and District of Minnesota
and elsewhere, the defendatlt, N |

JOHN JOSEPH WATERS, JR., - o
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~for the purpose of executing the above-described scheme and artifice to defraud,
. - o ﬂﬁ- . ‘ N K : -

knowingly caused to be s’ént, delivered, and moved by the United States Postal

Service and by commercial interstate carriers, according to the directions thereon,

various matters, items, and things, as described below:

Date =’ . oye _
Couht (on or about) Mallmg -

Mailing by US Bank of monthly statement for

1 December 22, 2008 | checking account ending in *7856

Mailing by Deluxe Corp. of blank checks for US

2 | January 6, 2009 Bank checking account ending in *7856

Mailing by US Bank of monthly statement for | |

3 |February 24, 2009 checking account ending in *7856

Mailing by US Bank of monthly statement for
checklng account endmg in *7856 V

4 March 20, 2009

-20.  All in violation of Title 18, Umted States Code, Section 1341.

Counts 5- 20 (ere Fraud)

.21, The grand jury restates and realleges paragraphs 1 through 7 and 10
through 17 above as if fully set forth herem L .
22. Onor about the following dates, in the State and District of Minnesota"
and elsewhere;the defendant,“
'. iQHN JOSEPH WATERS, JR.,
for the purpose of executing the abova-described scheme ana artifice to defraud,

knowingly transmitted and caused to be transmitted, by means of wire
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communications in interstate commerce, certain writings, signs, signals, pictures,

and sounds, as described below:

‘ Date - , ' . ~
Count (on or about) | Wire

Facsimile transmission of letter, from Water’s
office in Minnesota to Northern Trust Corp.,
5 | September 22, 2008 | Chicago, Illinois, requesting transfer of

' $75,000.00 to Cafesjian’s account at Northern
Trust Bank of Florida

Wire transfer in the amount of $75,000.00 from
Northern Trust Corp., Chicago, Illinois, to v
Cafesjian’s account at Northern Trust Bank of
Florida

6 September 22, 2008

| Electronic settlement of check number 13701, in
the amount of $20,000.00, drawn on Cafesjian’s
7 September 22, 2008 | account at Northern Trust Bank of Florida and
- | deposited into a US Bank account controlled by
Waters in Minnesota

Facsimile transmission of letter, from Water’s
. office in Minnesota to Northern Trust Corp.,

8 November 14, 2008 | Chicago, Illinois, requesting transfer of

o $200,000.00 to Cafesjian’s account at Northern
Trust Bank of Florida

Wire transfer in the amount of $200,000.00 from
Northern Trust Corp., Chicago, Illinois, to

Cafesjian’s account at Northern Trust Bank of
Florida

9 | November 14, 2008

Electronic settlement of check number 13784, in
- the amount of $20,000.00, drawn on Cafesjian’s
10 November 14, 2008 | account at Northern Trust Bank of Florida and

| ' deposited into a US Bank account controlled by

Waters in Minnesota

Facsimile transmission of letter, from Water’s
~ | office in Minnesota to Northern Trust Corp.,
11 November 21, 2008 | Chicago, Illinois, requesting transfer of
L $200,000.00 to Cafesjian’s account at Northern
Trust Bank of Florida
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Count

Date
(on or about)

Wire

12

November 21, 2008

Wire transfer in the amount of $200,000.00 from
Northern Trust Corp., Chicago, Illinois, to
Cafesjian’s account at Northern Trust Bank of
Florida

13

November 21, 2008

Electronic settlement of check number 13799, in

| the amount of $20,000.00, drawn Cafesjian’s

account at Northern Trust Bank of Florida and
deposited into a US Bank account controlled by
Waters in Minnesota

14

February 26, 2009

Facsimile transmission of letter, from Water’s
office in Minnesota to Northern Trust Corp.,
Chicago, Illinois, requesting transfer of
$100,000.00 to Cafesjian’s account at Northern
Trust Bank of Florida

15

February 26, 2009

Wire transfer in the amount of $100,000.00 from
Northern Trust Corp., Chicago, Illinois, to

Cafesjian’s account at Northern Trust Bank of
Florida

16

February 26, 2009

Electronic settlement of check number 13909, in
the amount of $20,000.00, drawn on Cafesjian’s
account at Northern Trust Bank of Florida and
deposited into a US Bank account controlled by
Waters in Minnesota '

17

March 9, 2009

Internet banking transfer, in the amount of
$500.00, from a US Bank account in Minnesota to
an account at US Bank that Waters controlled in
the name of the deceased Armenian exchange
student

18

March 23,2009

Facsimile transmission of letter, from Water’s
office in Minnesota to Northern Trust Corp.,
Chicago, Illinois, requesting transfer of
$100,000.00 to Cafesjian’s account at Northern
Trust Bank of Florida

19

March 23, 2009

Wire transfer in the amount of $100,000.00 from
Northern Trust Corp., Chicago, Illinois, to

Cafesjian’s account at Northern Trust Bank of
Florida




~ CASE 0:13-cr-00203-ADM-JJG vDocurlnent 1 Filed 08/05/13 Page 9 of 15

U.S. v. John Joseph Waiere, Ir.

| Date | , |
| Count (on or about) Wire ‘ |

Electronic settlement of check number 13931, in
‘ ‘the amount of $20,000.00, drawn on Cafesjian’s
20 March 23, 2009 account at Northern Trust Bank of Florida and
’ deposited into a US Bank account controlled by
Waters in Minnesota

23.  All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343,

COUNT 21
(Income Tax Evasion - 2007)

24.. The grand jury restates and realleges paragraphs 1 through 7, 10
thrqugh 17, 19, and 22 above as if fully set forth herein.

25 Waters willfully failed to report as .ihcdme, and evaded the assessment
of taxes on, any of the millions of dollars he embezzled from Cafesjian p.ursuarit' to
the fraudulent scheme set forth above; |

26, On or abeut March 31, 2008, in the State and District of Minne‘sota,'~
the defendant,
JOHN JOSEPH WATERS, JR;,
did willfully attempt to evade and defeat a large part of the income tax due and
owing by hhn to the} Uhited States of America for the ealehdar year 2007, by
preparing, signing, and caueing to be filed with the Internal Revenue Seﬁice, a
false and fraudulent U.S. Individual Income Tax Return, Form 1040, for the

caleﬁdar year 2007 oh behalf of himself, and by various other affirmative actions,

including vthose‘set forth in paragraphs 11 through 17 above. In the return, the
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defendant stated that his taxable income for the éalendar year was $253,194 and
that the amount of tax due and owing thereon was $68,307. In fact, as the
- defendant then and there well kng:w and ‘_believed, his taxable income for the
calendar year was well in excess of $25;3‘,,1‘94,Vupon which’ taxable income there
was owiﬁg to the Unitved'St-ates of America incomé tax ;zvell in excess of $68,307.

- 27.  Allin violation of Title 26, United. States Code, Section 7201.

COUNT 22 -
(Income Tax Evasion - 2008)

28. The grand jury restates and realleges paragraphs 1 through 7, 10
- through 17, 19, 22, and 25 above as if fuily set forth herein.

©29.  On or about Mar;:h 2‘, 2009,' in the State and District of Minnesota and
elsewhere, the defendant,

| JOHN JOSEPH WATERS, JR,

~ did willfully attempt to evade and defeat a large part of the income tax due and
owing by him to the United States‘ of Améri;a for the calendar year 2008, by
preparing, signing, and causing to be filed with the Internal Revenue Service, a
false and fraudulent U.S. Individual Income TaX Return, Form 1040, for the
- calendar year 2008 on behalf of himself, and by various other afﬁfmative actions,
including those set forth in paragraphs 11 throﬂgh 17 above. In fhe retui'n, the
defen‘dant stated that ﬁis ‘taxable income for the calendar year was ‘$1 1 1,299 and

that the amount of tax due and owing thereon was $24,190. In fact, as the

10¢
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defehdant then and there well knew and believed, hrs taxable income for the

?

calendar year was well in excess of $111,299, upon which taxable income there

was owing to the United States of America income tax well in excess of $24,190.
30.  Allin violation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7201. -

COUNT 23
(Income Tax Evasion - 2009)

31. The grand jury restates and realleges paragraphs 1 through 7, 10

‘ throﬁgh 17,19, 22,' and 25 above as if fully set forth herein.

32.  On or about Mareh 1, 2010, in the State and District of Minnesota, the -

defendant,

| JOHN JOSEPH WATERS, JR.,,
did Willfully attempt to__‘evade and defeat a large part of the income tax due and
owing by him te the United States of America for (t.he calerldar year 2009, by
preparing, signing, and caasing to be filed \r\rith the Ihternal Revenue S:ervice, a

false and fraudulent U.S. Individual Income Tax Retum, Form 1040, for the

calendar year 2009 on behalf of himself, and by various other afﬁrrnative actions,

including those set forth in paragraphs 11 through 17 above. In the return, the
defendant stated that his taxable income for the calendar year was $0 and that the
amount of tax due and owing ‘thereon was $0. In fact, as the defendant then and

there well knew and believed, his taxable income for the calendar year was well in

\

,11
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excess of $0, upon which taxéble income there was owing to the United States of
: "Amer‘ica‘ income tax well in excess of $0.
- 33. Allin violation of ‘Title 26, United States Code, Section "}'201.»

Lo COUNT 24
(False Income Tax Return - 2007)

34. The gfand jury restates and realleges par.égraphs‘ 1 through ‘7, 10
. through 17, 19, 22, and 25 above as if fully sejc forth herein.

35.  On or about March 31, 2008, in the State and District “of Mihﬁésota,
‘th¢ defendant, | "
JOHN .iOSEPH WATERS, JR.,

~ did willfully rﬁake and Su‘bscribe aU.S. Individual Income Tax Return, Form 1040,
whiéh Was verified by a written declaration that it was made under the penalt(ie;vs 6f
perjuryl and which he did not Belieye to be true and correct as to eve;’y material
. mgtfer; That Form 1040, Which the défendant ﬁled With the Internal Revenue
Service, stated that the defendant’s tdtal-income_, Line 22, was $3 13,976:‘, Whéreas,
" as the defendant then and there knew, his total income was substéntially more thanv ‘
. - $313,976. |

36. Al in violation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7206(1).

12
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COUNT 25
(False Income Tax Return - 2008)

37, The grand jury restates and realleges paragraphs 1_ fhrough 7, 10
through 17,19, 22, and 25 above as if full.y' set forth herein.

' 38 On or about March 2, 2009, in the State and District of Minnesota, the
defendant, | |

JOHN JOSEPH WATERS, JR.,
did willfully make and subscribe a U.S. Individual Income Tax Return, Form 1040,
which was verified by a written declara‘eion that it was made under the penalties ef
“perjury and which he did not believe to be true and correct as to every material
matfer. That Form 1040, which the defendant‘ _ﬁled With the Internal Revenue
Service, stated that the defendant’s Fotal income, Line 22, was $28_1,013, whereas,
as the deferidaht then and there knew, his total income was substantially more than
$281,013. |
39. All in violation uof Title 26, United States Cede, Section 7206(1).

COUNT 26
(False Income Tax Return - 2009)

40. . The grand jury restates and realleges paragraphs 1 thfough A7, 10
through 17, 19, 22, and 25 above as if fully set forth herein.
41.  On or about March 1, 2010, in the State and District of Minnesota, the

‘defendant, .

13
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-

" JOHN JOSEPH WATERS, JR.,

did willfully make and subscribe a U.S. Individual Income Tax Return, Form 1040,

‘which was verified by a written declaration that it was made under the penalties of

perjury and which he did not believe to be true and correct as to every material

" matter. That Form 1040, which the defendant filed with the Internal Revenue

Service, stated that the defendant’s total income, Line 22, was $90,869, Whereaé,

as the defendant then and there knew, his total income was substantially more than

$90,869.

42. - All in violation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7206(1)

-

FORFEITURE ALLEGATIONS

Counts 1-20 of thls Indictment are realleged and incorporated by reference
for the purposé of alleging forfeitures pufsuant to Title 18, United States Code,
Séction 981(a)(1)(C). and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c).

As the resulf of the offenses alleged in Counts 1-20 of this Indictment, the
defendant,

) " JOHN JOSEPH WATERS, JR.,
shall forfeit to the Uln>ited States, pursuant to Ti’-cle 18, United States Code, Section

981(a)(1)(C) and T1t1e 28 United States Code, Section 2461(c), any property, real

or personal, which constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable to the

- violations of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 and 1343.

14
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If any of the above-described forfeitable property is unavailable for

forfeiture, the United States intends to seek the forfeiture of substitute property as

provided for in Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p) as.incorporated by

Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c).

A TRUE BILL

UNITED STATES ATTORNEY FOREPERSON
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